IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
Case No.: WMN 05 CV 1297

V.

JOHN BAPTIST KOTMAIR, et al.,

N ™ A N i N N

Defendants.

UNITED STATES MOTION FOR SANCTIONS FOR DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS

The United States of America, pursuant to Rule 37(b)(2){C) and (c) of the Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure, moves the Court to enter an order sanctioning defendants by: (1) finding
certain facts for the purposes of trial and as part of its summary judgment motion with a warning
that defendants continued misconduct can result in default judgment, (2) find defendants in
contempt if they refuse to obey the Court’s Order by June 16, 2006, and (3) enter default
judgment if these less severe sanctions do not induce compliance by June 30, 2006.

I. INTRODUCTION

The United States filed suit against Defendants John B. Kotmair, Jr. (Kotmair), and Save-
a-Patriot Fellowship (SAPF) on May 13, 2005, seeking a permanent injunction under Internal
Revenue C-ode (LR.C., 26 U.S.C.) §§ 7402(a) and 7408 prohibiting them from interfering with |
the administration of the internal revenue laws, from organizing and selling tax-fraud schemes,
and from assisting in the preparation of false documents relating to federal tax matters. On

October 25 and 27, 2005, the United States served interrogatories and requests for production of
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documents upon Kotmair and SAPF, respectively.'

Kotmair served untimely responses for both the requests served on him and SAPF on
November 28; and December 1, 2005.7 By letter dated December 20, 20053, the United States
informed defendants that their responses were deficient because, among other things, they failed
. to certify their responses.” In response to the numerous requests for documents, SAPF only
produced three copies of their newsletter, Reasonable Action, and some audio and video tapes.*

Defendants have refused to answer the United States’ requests for over seven months and
on April 25, 2006, the United States filed a motion to cémpel discovery responses which the
Court granted in part on May 16, 2006.°> The United States informed defendants that the instant
motion would be sought if they did not comply with the Cou1't’§ Order by May 24, 2006. In
response, defendants filed an objection and a motion for stay. Because a stay is not automatic,
their noncompliance with the Court’s Order continues.®

A. SAPF’s Failure to Cooperate in Discovery.

A comparison of the documents and responses provided by SAPF to those it refuses to

provide demonstrates the lack of cooperation in discovery. As stated, SAPF has provided only

' Docket no. 16 (United States” I.R. 104.7 Certificate of Conference, Ex. A.}
21d, Bxs. C &D.

3 Id., Exs. E.

4 Id., Exs. C & D; Declaration of Thomas M. Newman 1 2-5.

5 Docket no. 33.

¢ Docket nos. 34 & 35; See L.R. 301.5.a (“the filing of objections to the Magistrate
Judge's order shall not operate as a stay of any obligation or deadline imposed by the order.”)
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newsletters, videos, and audiotapes. However, SAPF’s handbook states that they offer “court
litigation” services, including: (1) challenging a wrongful levy action in court, (2) judicial review
of a wrongful levy action and involvement of the IRS employee who assigned them, (3)
enforcement of a the hardship petition for release of levy, (4) suits for refunds of taxes, and (5)
 petitioning bankruptey court to stop IRS collection.” Moreover, defendants offer to sell to
customers “Affidavits of Revocation,” purporting to revoke the customers’ Social Security
number, and “Statements of Citizenship” alleging to declare that the individual is exempt from
income tax withholding. SAPF’s discovery responses do not describe these services, nor has it
provided a single document, related to these services.

SAPF is deceptively attempting to portray itself as producing only newsletters, pamphlets,
and videos. However, SAPF’s handbook, services, billing étatements, and other products
establish these are not the limits of its business. Defendants’ sales of these products and services
is well documented, however.?

Moreover, SAPF’s misconduct has not been limited to its failure to disclose documents or

supply answers to interrogatories. On April 25, 2006, SAPF served the United States with a

7 Declaration of Thomas M. Newman J18-31. Declaration of Thomas M. Newman {20-
31. Tt should be noted that in response to the United States’ interrogatory number 13 &
14—requesting the “nature of the position held, the nature of the services performed, the dates of
performance, and the amounts (if any) paid for such services” for SAPF employces—SAPF
neglected to explain any of the services, only labeling the employees as “caseworker,”
“paralegal,” or “office clerk.”

2 U.S v. Crosson, 1995 WL 756599 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 20, 1995)(noting that the taxpayer
purchased the frivolous documents from defendants); Sherwood v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo.
2005-268 (same); Tolotti v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo. 2002-86 (same), aff"d 70 Fed. Appx.
971 (9" Cir. 2003); Wadsworth v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo. 1997-238 (same); Narramore,
T.C. Memo. 1996-11 (same); Atkinson v. Towa Department of Revenue, 2004 WL 3159262 *2
(Dept. of Appeals May 7, 2004)(same).
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Notice of Service of Motion to Compel Discovery which erroneously asserted that the United
States” responses were untimely.” The attached declaration to the United States’ responsé reveals
that SAPF’s counsel was asked, at least four times, to correct this misstatement.’* However, he
failed to do so, causing further delay because the United States was required to respond to this
frivolous motion.

B. Kotmair’s Failure to Cooperate in Discovery.

Kotmair has also failed to cooperate in several respects. Kotmair falsely stated in his
deposition that he did not sell “Affidavits of Revocation” or “Statement of Citizenship” and
“never” represented customers who have used these documents in disputes with their employer.
Contrary to Kotmair’s statements, SAPF does offer to sue employers, he has represented
customers in suits against their employers, and defendants’ newsletters confirm they sell the
“Affidavits of Revocation” or “Statement of Citizenship.”"!

Moreover, Kotmair stated to this Court he was assigned representative number
“2605-47815R by the IRS for his representation ... and does so under the provisions of Treasury
Circular 230, at 10.7(c)(1)(iv).”"? Kotmair makes this false statement knowing that on June 3,
1994, he was sent a 1étter stating he was found to be “ineligible to practice before the Internal

Revenue Service.”"

? Docket no. 30.

1° Docket no. 32, Declaration.

1 Declaration of Thomas M. Newman 7420-31.
12 Docket no. 17, at 6-7.

13 Declaration of Thomas M. Newman §§14-15.
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C. Defendants’ Past Misconduct.

As part of their scheme, defendants have advised members to employ the same type of
dilatory tactics exhibited in this litigation. In 1996, this Court discussed SAPF’s Member
Assistance Program/Victory Express in Save-A-Patriot Fellowship v. United States, 962 F. Supp.
" 695 (D. Md. 1996), a wrongful levy suit. The Court’s decision describes how SAPF rewards
members who obstruct the enforcement of the internal revenue laws with “delaying tactics:”

Essentially, when a member suffers a “qualified” loss of property or freedom,

he/she submits a claim to the SAP Fellowship which, after validation, supposedly

results in reimbursement for civil losses (to a $150,000 maximum) and a stipend

of $25.,000 per year of incarceration. The payments are to be made by the

membership directly to the validated claimant or the claimant’s family.

A civil claim is validated: “. . . only after S.AP. has determined that a judgment

does exist and that the claimant, to the best of his ability, dragged the plunderers

through every agency and court proceedings feasibly possible, using delaying

tactics in each and everyone.” '

A criminal claim is validated: . . . only after S.A.P. has determined that the

claimant member is actually incarcerated and is given physical proof that said

member, to the best of his/her ability, resisted and delayed the tyrants at every

step through the criminal investigation and all other agency and court

proceedings feasibly possible.”

Id. at 698 (emphasis added). In addition, defendants’ handbook states that a “Member must
prove they used every Court and Agency proceeding[] and delay tactic[] as possible” in order to
be reimbursed for their loss or incarceration.”

Moreover, SAPF’s dilatory conduct, under Kotmair’s supervision, is not limited to that

case. In Weatherley,”” SAPF’s conduct was described by the United States District Court as

1 Declaration of Thomas M. Newman 7.

\ In re Weatherley, 1993 WL 268546 (E.D. Pa., July 15, 1993) It is noteworthy that
defendants continue to offer to file bankruptcy petitions in their membership handbook.
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follows:

This court faces the very narrow issue of whether . . . Save-a-Patriot (Patriot) [is]
in contempt of court even though it is not party to a bankruptcy proceeding.
Patriot appears to be a private entity that assists individuals in the preparation of
pro se bankruptcy proceedings.

[T]he Bankruptcy Court . . . requested specific information from Patriot
concerning the nature of its services and its involvement with fn re Weatherley ...
The court sought to discover the amount for the “membership fee” and the
benefits in conjunction with that fee, the nature of the organization, the services
performed for the debtor . . . and the names and bankruptcy numbers of any other
cases in which Patriot was instrumental.

Patriot filed a timely response which Judge Scholl found to be vague and evasive.
By second order dated January 6, 1993, Judge Scholl gave notice of impending
 sanctions if Patriot did not amend its answers in a more complete and clear
manner. Patriot apparently refused. Judge Scholl . .. held Patriot in contempt
and imposed the following sanctions: 1) declared Patriot in civil contempt of
orders dated December 4, 1992 and January 6, 1993; 2) directed Patriot to refund
the $135 allegedly paid by the debtor to Patriot for services rendered in
conjunction with the chapter 13 proceeding; 3) and enjoined Patriot from
receiving compensation from any parties in connection with the preparation of
bankruptcy cases unless it complied with provision 2 above, responded in good
faith to the original inquiries, and filed a motion to dissolve the injunction. . .

Patriot smugly concludes that since it was a non-party to /n re Weatherley and the
District Court did not issue the order, the sanctions, therefore, do not exist. We
find, however, that Patriot's smugness is ill-conceived. /d. (Emphasis added.)'s

In 1997, Kotmair represented an individual before the Executive Office for Immigration
Review, and the Administrative Law Judge noted the following:"’?

Because [Kotmair] continued to violate my orders, I decided to schedule a

telephone prehearing conference. . . The April 8 Order informed the parties that

the conference would address [Kotmair’s] compliance with past orders,
[Kotmair's] submission of unauthorized pleadings, as well as Mr. Kotmair's

16 Defendants have never complied with this order. In re Weatherley, 169 B.R. 555 (E.D.
Pa., July 22, 1994).

7 Leev. AT&T, 7 OCAHO 924 (April 11, 1997).
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competence to practice before this tribunal, his compliance with the standards of
conduct, and his continued participation in this case. Further, the parties were
warned that if a party's representative failed to attend the conference, sanctions
might be imposed . . .

[The court] received by FAX a pleading from [Kotmair] . . . in which Kotmair
stated that he was unavailable for the prehearing conference . . . This pleading is
more significant for what it did not say than what it did say. First, it is not a
motion or even a request for a postponement. Moreover, Mr. Kotmair did not
state that he had a previous engagement . . . Rather, he asserted that because of
prior commitments and an already pressing schedule, he needed more notice....

Therefore, after receiving the “Response,” at my direction, my secretary contacted
Mr. Kotmair's office . . . and informed [him] that the conference would proceed as
scheduled . . . Mr. Kotmair then came to the telephone. . . he . . . simply angrily
informed my secretary that he would not attend the conference and hung up the
telephone. . . .

T ruled that Mr. Kotmair had shown by his past actions, including his failure to
attend the confference, that he was incompetent to represent Complainant in this
action. Ialso ruled that he had violated the standards of conduct. . . by failing to
comply with directions, by engaging in dilatory tactics, by refising to adhere to
reasonable standards of orderly and ethical conduct, and by failing to act in good
faith. Id. (Emphasis added.)

On August 15, 1997, an Administrative Law Judge for the Executive Office for
Immigration Review advised the National Worker's Rights Committee:

The filing of this Complaint is patently frivolous, and, on the part of Kotmair . . .

disingenuous and irresponsible . . . By reiterating identical, stereotypical charges

without discussing or otherwise acknowledging those precedents, he abuses the

process of this forum. Were Kotmair an attorney, his actions would be

sanctionable.'®

Kotmair continue to file identical pleadings in other cases despite clear warning from the court.'

18 Manning v. City of Jacksonville, 7 OCAHO 956, at 8 (August 15, 1997).

¥ Damron v. Yellow Freight Sys., 18 F. Supp. 2d 812 (E.D. Tenn. 1998)(SAPF customer,
who used an Affidavit of Revocation, “adopted this misguided philosophy and misinterpretation
of the law from a tax protest organization known as the Save-A-Patriot Fellowship™ in addressing
the Affidavit of Revocation); Shepherd v. Sturm, Ruger & Co., INC., 1998 OCAHO LEXIS 27
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II. ARGUMENT

Courts generally have broad discretion in imposing sanctions under Rule 37 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.” Rule 37(b)(2) provides that a court may issue sanctions for
failure to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, including an order compelling discovery
issued under Rule 37(a). Rule 37(b)(2)(C) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure provides that
where a party fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery, the court may make such
orders as are just, including striking pleadings, dismissing the action, precluding or opposing
certain claims, or holding the disobedient party in contempt.

The purpose of the 1;u1e is to impose sanctions against parties or persons who are
unjustifiably resisting discovery.” Rule 37 sanctions must be applied diligently both “to peﬁalize
those whose conduct may be deemed to warrant such a sanction, [and] to deter those who might
be tempted to such conduct in the absence of such a deterrent.” The choice among the various

sanctions rests with the district court.?®

In order to avoid sanctions, the non-moving party must prove that it was impossible to

(February 18, 1998) (Noting that Kotmair received copies of all adverse OCAHO decisions as
the complainant’s representative); Lee v. Airtouch Communications, 6 OCAHO 901 (November
21, 1996), appeal filed, No. 97-70124 (9th Cir. 1997).

2 National Hockey League v. Metropolitan Hockey Club, Inc., 427 U.S. 639 (1976).

2! See Fed. R. Civ. P. 37 advisory committee’s notes.

2 National Hockey League, at 643.

B Mutual Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Richards & Assoc., Inc., 872 F.2d 88, 92 (4™ Cir.
1989Y; Trigon Ins. Co. v. United States, 204 F.R.D. 277, 288 (E.D. Va. 2001).
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comply in order to avoid sanctions. To show that it was impossible to comply with a court’s
order, the non-moving party must show that all reasonable efforts were made to comply with the
court’s order.”® The court need only find that a party failed to comply with an order for sanctions
to apply. Defeﬁdants’ motions for reconsideration and stay indicate they are making no effort to
comply, nor do they argue it is impossible to comply. Rather, defendants have acknowledged that
they refuse to comply.

Moreover, sanctions are appropriate where the violation is “due to willfulness, bad faith,
or fault of the party.”** Disobedient conduct within the control of the litigant demonstrates bad
faith or willfulness. Defendants have met this standard because Kotmair and SAPF have refused
to disclose documents in their possession. Thus, the Court need only determine the severity of the
sanction.

Rule 37(b)(2) in subsections (A)-(E) recites permissible sanctions in pending cases,
including default judgment. The Fourth Circuit has recognized lesser sanctions may include any
court orders that clearly contemplate punishment for noncompliance and that pursue subsequent
conformity.”” Since sanctions are warranted, but default is not appropriate at this time, the United
States requests that this Court issue an Order finding the following facts, and warn defendants that

further non-compliance can result in default judgment:

X I re Chase & Sanborn Corp., 872 F.2d 397, 400 (11™ Cir. 1989).
» United States v. Rizzo, 539 F.2d 458, 465 (5™ Cir. 1976).
% Fair Housing of Marin v. Combs, 285 F.3d 899, 905 (9™ Cir. 2002).

77 See Anderson v. Foundation for Adv., Educ. & Emp't of Amer. Indians, 155 F.3d 500,
505 (4™ Cir. 1998); Wilson v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 561 F.2d 494, 503-04 (4th Cir. 1977),
cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1020 (1978).
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(1) Defendants prepare and sell to customers “Afﬁdavits of Revocation,” which falsely
claim that the individual using the document is no longer required to pay employment taxes;

(2) Defendants prepare and sell to customers “Statements of Citizenship,” which falsely
claim that the individual is exempt from income tax withholding because U.S. citizens are not
required pay taxes or report domestic income;

(3) Defendants advise customers purchasing the “Affidavits of Revocation” and
“Statement of Citizenship” that théy “cannot file state or federal income tax forms™ afier
executing these documents,

(4) Defendants offer to file complaints against employers who refuse to accept the
“Affidavits of Revocation” and “Statement of Citizenship” or continue to withhold income and
employment taxes after these aocuments are offered;

(5) Defendants file complaints against employers who refuse to accept the “Affidavits of
Revocation” and “Statement of Citizenship™ or continue to withhold income and employment
taxes after these documents are proffered;

(6) “Affidavits of Revocation” and “Statement of Citizenship,” if used, would result in an
understatement of the customers’ income and emp.loyment tax payment requirements;

(7) Defendants offer to file for customers: bankruptcy petitions, complaints in wrongful
levy actions against IRS employees, motions to quash IRS summonses, and frivolous suits for
refund of taxes falsely asserting that U.3.-source income is not subject to taxation;

(8) Defendants charge customers a fee for preparing.these court filings and for appearing
before any court or agency;

(9) Defendants sell to customers frivolous letters which they send to the IRS falsely
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claiming that U.S.-source income is not subject to taxation, and frivolous FOIA requests, both of
which falsely claim that John B. Kotmair, Jr., is anthorized to represent the customers;

(10) John B. Kotmair, Jr., signs each letter sent to the IRS un.der the jurat swearing “he is
not currently under suspension or disbarment from practice before the Internal Revenue Service”
knowing he is not authorized to represent individuals before the IRS;

{11) Defendants offer to compensate customers whose assets are levied or who are
incarcerated because of violations of the federal income tax laws;

(12} Défendants charge customers $48 per letter sent to the IRS and ten times as much for
court documents;

(13) Defendants are aware that their arguments are considered to be frivolous by both the
IRS and courts;

(14) Defendants encourage members not to file income tax returns; and

(15) Defendants know that their customers have been incarcerated for relying on their
products.

The information sought by the_ United States is essential to its case. Thus, the United
States also requests that, the Court issue and Order: (1) finding defendants in contempt if they
refuse to obey the Court’s Order compelling discovery by June 16, 2006, and (2) finding
defendants in default if these less severe sanctions do not induce compliance by June 30, 2006.%

A. Defendants Continued Non-Compliance Should Result in Default Judgment.

In Mutual Federal Savings & Loan Association, the Fourth Circuit set forth a four-part test

2 These dates arc suggested so the United States can incorporate the documents in any
future substantive motion, without any further prejudice or need for a change in the Court’s
Scheduling Order.
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that a court must consider before imposing default judgment as a sanction. The factors are:

(1) whether the noncomplying party acted in bad faith; (2) the amount of prejudice

his noncompliance caused his adversary, which necessarily includes an inquiry

into the materiality of the evidence [the parties] failed to produce; (3) the need for

deterrence of the particular sort of noncompliance; and (4) the effectiveness of

less drastic sanctions.”

Each of these factors will be addressed in twrmn.

1. Defendants’ Bad Faith.

A party’s bad faith is exhibited by, inter alia, failing to timely provide responses and
documents during discovery, failing to cooperate during depositions, promising but failing to
provide documents and responses, filing numerous requests for extensions, and a refusal to
.comply with court orders.® All of these factors are present in this case. The United States’
requests remained unanswered for seven months, defendants requested last minute stays rather
than complying, they practice the same dilatory tactics they espouse to their customers, and they
have flagrantly disobeyed court orders.

2. Prejudice to Plaintiff. |

Defendants’ abuse of the discovery process have caused unnecessary expense, prejudice,
and delay. The United States has been unable to file a substantive motion because of defendants’

refusal to comply with the discovery process. Most significantly, defendants refused to disclose

documents related to every service it offers. The United States is prejudiced because this is

2 Mutual Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Richards & Assoc., Inc., 872 F.2d 88, 92; See
also Doyle v. Murray, 938 T.2d 33, 35 (4" Cir. 1991)(the Fourth Circuit stated the third factor as
“existence of a drawn out history of deliberately proceeding in a dilatory fashion.”)

30 Spead v. Automation Industries, Inc., 102 FR.D. 823 (D. Md. 1984); Gardendunce,
Ine. v. Woodstock Copperworks, Ltd., 230 FR.D. 438 (M.D.N.C. 2005).
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conduct central to this case and the requested information would provide potential witnesses,
evidence that defendants prepare frivolous court documents, and that defendants are
compensated for these services.

3 There is a Need for Deterrence in this Case.

The need for deterrence in this case is substantial. Defendants have demonstrated an
unwillingness to conform to the federal rules and to abide by the orders of the court. If partiés
were permitted to routinely ignore discovery, make false statements during depositions, routinely
ask for stays, fail to certify responses, and file frivolous motions to compel, the court would be
required to intervene in the discovery process of every case.’’ Moreover, there is a substantial
need to deter the conduct of these defendants. Defendants advocate and employ the use of
dilatory tactics and have flagrantly ignored at least five court orders. Thus, a severe sanction
would have the effect of deterring both defendants and their disciples.

4. The Effectiveness of Less Druastic Sanctions.

Here, the relief requested by the United States allows defendants to conform to the
Court’s Order. The sanction requested is not severe as the factual statements are supported by
the exhibits attached to the accompanying declaration. Moreover, this initial sanction warns
defendants of the result of future misconduct, allows them the opportunity to comply with the
Court’s Order, and imposes a schedule that will not further delay the preparation of this case for

trial.

3 Miller v. Sprint Communications, 1997 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 21881 (W.D.N.C., December
31, 1997).
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1IL. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons the United States requests that this Court enter an Order
establishing the above-stated facts, preclude defendants from introducing or arguing a contrary
position, and warh defendants that default judgment may be entered . Further, the United States
requests the Court rule that defendants comply with the Court’s Order by June 16, 2006, or be
found in contempt, and that if defeﬁdants disobedience continues until June 30, 2006, default

judgment should be entered.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Thomas M. Wewmarn
THOMAS M. NEWMAN

Trial Attorney, Tax Division
U.S. Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7238
Washington, D.C. 20044

Tel.: (202) 616-9926

Fax: (202) 514-6770
Thomas.m.newman(@usdoj.gov
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED that sexvice of the foregoing MOTION FOR DISCOVERY
SANCTIONS has been made upon the following by depositing a copy in the United States mail,

postage prepaid, this 8th day of June, 2006.

John Baptist Kotmair, Jr.
P.O. Box 91
Westminster, MD 21158

George Harp, Esq.
610 Marshall St., Ste. 619
Shreveport, LA 71101

/s/Thomas M. Newman
THOMAS M. NEWMAN
Trial Attorney, Tax Division
U.S. Department of Justice
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
v. Civil No. WMN 05 CV 1297

JOIN BAPTIST KOTMAIR, JR., et al.,

Defendants.

R T i i

DECLARATION OF THOMAS M. NEWMAN IN SUPPORT OF THE UNITED
STATES’ MOTION FOR SANCTIONS FOR DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS

1. This declaration and attached exhibits are submitted under 28 U.S.C. § 1746 in

connection with the United States' Response to Defendant SAPF's Motion to Compel Discovery
-Responses. I am a trial attorney with the Department of Justice's Tax Division iﬁ Washington,

D.C. to whom this case is assigned.

2. On January 4, 2006, I received Save-a-Patriot’s (SAPF) total document production in
this case which is described in the letter attached as Exhibit 1.

3. Other than the materials stated in Exhibit 1, I have only received three copies of
defendants’ newsletter, Reasonable Action. |

4. T have received only six copies defendants’ newsletter from John B. Kotmair, Jr.

5. On several occasions, SAPF’s counsel, George Harp stated he would send more copies
of defendants’ newsletter Reasonable Action because the United States’ request has not been

ﬁllly satisfied. Mr. Harp last stated he would supplement his response.s‘on April 17, 2006. SAPF



membership.”

9. Defendants’ Membership Handbook, Exhibit 2B (page 20-21), discusses defendants’
“Power of attorney work,” which includes offering to send letters to the IRS.

10. Defendants’ Membership Handbook, Exhibit 2B (page 20-21), states that defendants
charge $45 for each letter for “Power of attorney work.”

11. A copy of one of defendants” letters is attached as Exhibit 3, which is dated
September 16, 2005.

12. T have counted the correspondence the IRS received from defendants during the
period from May 2004 through March 2006, which totals 864 letters sent purporting to represent
SAPF customers.

13. Each of the 864 letters are signed by Kotmair under the declaration that he is “not

currently under suspension or disbarment from practice before the Internal Revenue Service or










































































































































































































































































































































